RECEIVED
FEB 05 2020
SC Court of Appeals

THE STATE OF SOUTH CAROLINA
IN THE COURT OF APPEALS

APPEAL FROM THE ADMINISTRATIVE LAW COURT
The Honorable H.W. Funderburk, Jr., Administrative Law Judge

APPELLATE CASE No.: 2019-000358
ADMINISTRATIVE LAW COURT CASE No.: 16-ALJ-07-0386-CC

Trident Medical Center, LLC, d/b/a Trident Medical Center.....Respondent,

v.

South Carolina Department of Health and Environmental Control,
and Roper St. Francis Hospital – Berkeley, Inc., d/b/a Roper
St. Francis Hospital – Berkeley.....Respondents below,

Of Which South Carolina Department of Health and Environmental
Control is a.....Respondent,

And Roper St. Francis Hospital – Berkeley, Inc., d/b/a

STATEMENT OF ISSUES ON APPEAL

- I. DID THE ADMINISTRATIVE LAW COURT ERR IN REFUSING TO GIVE DEFERENCE TO DHEC'S INTERPRETATION OF ITS HEALTH PLAN.**
- II. DID THE ADMINISTRATIVE LAW COURT RELY ON FINDINGS OF FACT THAT ARE IRRELEVANT, CLEARLY ERRONEOUS, AND LACKING SUBSTANTIAL EVIDENCE IN ORDER TO CONCLUDE THE DEPARTMENT'S INTERPRETATION OF ITS HEALTH PLAN WAS ARBITRARY.**
- III. DID THE ADMINISTRATIVE LAW COURT ERR IN CONCLUDING THAT AFFECTED PERSONS LACKED NOTICE OF THE PLANNED CLOSURE OF THE CATHETERIZATION LABORATORY.**
- IV. DID THE ADMINISTRATIVE LAW COURT ERR IN FAILING TO GIVE WEIGHT TO THE INCONSISTENT POSITIONS OF THE RESPONDENT DURING DHEC'S REVIEW OF THE APPLICATION.**

STATEMENT OF THE CASE

This proceeding involves a single Certificate of Need (“CON”) Application for the establishment of diagnostic cardiac catheterization services in Berkeley County, South Carolina. Appellant Roper St. Francis Hospital–Berkeley (“Roper Berkeley”) is one of four hospitals that comprise the Roper St. Francis Healthcare System (“Roper St. Francis”). The CON Application proposing to establish diagnostic cardiac catheterization services at the 50-bed hospital being constructed at Carnes Crossroads in Berkeley County was filed on May 9, 2016. (R. p. 753) Roper Berkeley proposed that upon approval of the CON Application, the diagnostic cardiac catheterization laboratory in which cardiac catheterization services are performed at Bon Secours St. Francis Xavier Hospital (“St. Francis”), a sister facility to Roper Berkeley within the Roper St. Francis System, would be permanently closed to cardiac catheterization services.

The Department of Health and Environmental Control (“DHEC” or “the Department”) reviewed Roper Berkeley’s CON Application under the *2015 South Carolina Health Plan* (“2015 Health Plan”), and subsequently approved it on July 25, 2016. On August 17, 2016, Roper St. Francis notified the Department that it permanently closed the diagnostic cardiac catheterization laboratory at St. Francis effective August 1, 2016. On September 21, 2016, Respondent Trident Medical Center, LLC, d/b/a Trident Medical Center (“Trident”) filed a Request for Final Review Conference with the DHEC Board, which was denied without review. Trident then requested a contested case hearing in the Administrative Law Court (“ALC”) challenging the Department’s decision to approve Roper Berkeley’s CON Application for the establishment of diagnostic cardiac catheterization services in Berkeley County. Trident challenged the Department’s decision on the grounds that Roper Berkeley’s CON Application did not comply with the 2015 Health Plan. (R. p.

44) The parties filed prehearing statements in accordance with the Rules of the ALC. (R. p. 222; R. p. 238; R. p. 244)

The parties conducted discovery and prepared the matter for a hearing. Prior to the hearing, the parties entered a Stipulation of Facts that, among other things, limited the scope of the contested issues to the single issue of whether the Roper Berkeley CON Application substantially complied with the 2015 Health Plan, or more specifically, Standard 3 of the Standards for Diagnostic Cardiac Catheterization services. (R. p. 261) Prior to the commencement of the hearing, Roper Berkeley submitted a pre-trial memorandum on statutory construction and agency deference doctrine. (R. p. 248) A contested case hearing on the merits was held before the Honorable H.W. Funderburk, Jr. on July 24 and 25, 2018, for a total of two days of testimony. During the hearing, all three parties presented witnesses and offered exhibits in support of their respective positions. A total of three witnesses testified at the hearing, and the ALC admitted 18 exhibits in evidence. The following two witnesses were designated as experts in the noted areas of expertise: Daniel Sullivan in the areas of health planning and the Health Plan on behalf of Trident and Katherine Platt in the areas of health planning and the Health Plan on behalf of Roper Berkeley. (R. p. 264) In addition to these two experts, the Court heard testimony from Louis Eubank, Chief of the Bureau of Healthcare Planning and Construction for DHEC.

On December 3, 2018, Judge Funderburk issued an Order reversing the Department's decision to approve Roper Berkeley's CON Application, thereby denying Roper Berkeley's CON Application. (R. p. 1) Roper Berkeley filed a motion to alter or amend the judgment on December 13, 2018, pursuant to Rule 59(e) of the South Carolina Rules of Civil Procedure ("SCRCP") and Rule 68 of the Rules of Procedure for the ALC ("SCALC"). (R. p. 153) On January 5, 2019, Trident filed a response to Roper Berkeley's motion to alter or amend. (R. p. 187) On January 14,

2019, Roper Berkeley filed a reply to Trident's response in further support of its motion to alter or amend. (R. p. 202) Thereafter on January 18, 2019, Trident submitted a "sur-reply" in opposition to Roper Berkeley's motion to alter or amend. (R. p. 215) Finally, on February 21, 2019, Judge Funderburk issued an Amended Final Order, which was stated to substitute the previous December 3, 2018, Final Order. (R. p. 20) The Amended Final Order reiterated Judge Funderburk's previous decision to reverse the Department's approval of Roper Berkeley's CON Application.

Roper Berkeley respectfully disagrees with the final decision of the ALC and strongly believes that the ALC erred in reversing the Department's approval of the CON Application, and erred in concluding that Roper Berkeley's CON Application failed to substantially comply with Standard 3 of the 2015 Health Plan. Accordingly, Roper Berkeley has filed this appeal seeking to reinstate the Department's approval of the CON Application, reversing the decision of the ALC.

STATEMENT OF FACTS

This matter arises under the regulatory program by which Certificates of Need are issued by the State of South Carolina for the development of health care facilities and services in this State. The regulatory scheme consists of the State Certification of Need and Health Facility Licensure Act ("CON Act"), S.C. Code Ann. § 44-7-110, *et seq.*; the regulations promulgated thereunder, 24A S.C. Code Ann. Regs. 61-15 ("CON Regulations"); and a Health Plan which is revised at least biannually. The purposes of the CON Act and thus the regulatory program itself are to "promote cost containment, prevent unnecessary duplication of health care facilities and services, guide the establishment of health facilities and services which will best serve public needs, and ensure high quality services are provided in health facilities in this State." *See* S.C. Code Ann. § 44-7-120. The primary vehicle by which the CON program is implemented, and its stated goals achieved, is the requirement that a healthcare provider apply for, and receive, a CON from DHEC prior to undertaking certain major projects or providing certain new services. *See* S.C.

Code Ann. §§ 44-7-120, -160. In determining whether to grant or deny an application for a CON, the Department evaluates the proposed project under the review criteria found in the CON Regulations and under the policies and standards set forth in the applicable South Carolina Health Plan. *See id.* at § 44-7-210(C).

As part of Roper St. Francis's commitment to bring needed health services to the residents of Berkeley County and surrounding communities, Roper Berkeley sought to add diagnostic cardiac catheterization services¹ to those services slated for the hospital under construction at Carnes Crossroads. (R. p. 21) It is undisputed that the Roper St. Francis System provides cardiac catheterization services to a substantial portion of patients originating from Berkeley County. In fact, the data reflects that Roper Hospital in downtown Charleston provides cardiac catheterization services for more than a quarter of the Berkeley County residents requiring interventional cardiovascular care. (R. p. 778) Furthermore, Roper Berkeley's intention to bring health services closer to its patient base currently traveling from the Berkeley and Dorchester County areas to downtown Charleston was thoroughly litigated in Trident's challenges to DHEC's approval of the Roper Berkeley Hospital CON Application in 2008, and withstood scrutiny at multiple levels of appeal, including this Court. *Trident Med. Ctr., LLC v. S.C. Dep't of Health and Envtl. Control*, 412 S.C. 341, 355, 772 S.E.2d 177, 184 (Ct. App. 2015).

At the time Roper Berkeley's CON Application was being reviewed, the providers of cardiac catheterization services in the then-applicable service area were the Medical University of South Carolina ("MUSC"), Roper Hospital, St. Francis Hospital, and Trident.² (R. p. 22) MUSC

¹ A diagnostic catheterization is a procedure that involves threading a catheter through a vessel and using imaging equipment to photograph what is happening in those vessels. (R. p. 640, lines 2-13)

² Cardiac catheterizations are performed in catheterization laboratories. Laboratories may be designated as providing only diagnostic catheterization services or may be designated as a

is also the only provider in the State of South Carolina that performs pediatric catheterization services. (R. p. 1244) The Roper St. Francis System had a total of four (4) catheterization laboratories (“cath labs”) – three (3) comprehensive cath labs at Roper Hospital and one (1) diagnostic cath lab at St. Francis. (R. p. 28) In 2014, St. Francis reported in its Joint Annual Report (“JAR”) to the Department that 4 diagnostic catheterization procedures had been performed in its cath lab. (R. p. 28) In 2015, St. Francis reported in its JAR to the Department that 2 diagnostic catheterizations had been performed. (R. pp. 28-29) In that same time period, Roper Hospital performed 1,578 diagnostic and 896 therapeutic procedures for a total of 3,370 equivalents³ (or 1,123 per lab) in 2014, and 1,568 diagnostic and 883 therapeutic procedures for a total of 3,334 equivalents (or 1,111 per lab) in 2015. (R. p. 776) In stark contrast, the utilization of the Roper Hospital cath labs was in excess of 90% of capacity in 2012 through 2015. (R. p. 776) The uncontroverted testimony was the underutilization of the St. Francis cath lab was a result of the close proximity between Roper Hospital and St. Francis, and the referral practices and tendencies of the treating physicians. (R. p. 683, lines 14-20) The two hospital campuses are roughly seven miles apart, both on the Charleston peninsula. (R. p. 747, line 25 – p. 748, line 6)

With the exception of the diagnostic cath lab at St. Francis Hospital, all of the providers of cardiac catheterization services in the service area reflected high utilization. (R. p. 1244) Moreover, the subsequently enacted *2017-2018 South Carolina Health Plan*, in effect as of the contested case hearing, reduced the utilization threshold for approval of new diagnostic cardiac

comprehensive catheterization laboratory if both diagnostic and therapeutic catheterizations are provided. Roper Berkeley’s CON Application seeks to provide only diagnostic catheterizations in a diagnostic catheterization laboratory.

³ Equivalents are used in evaluating capacity for cardiac catheterization services, with diagnostic cardiac catheters weighted as 1.0 and more complex procedures weighted at greater than 1.0 (*i.e.* therapeutic cardiac catheters are weighted as 2.0, pediatric diagnostic cardiac catheters are 2.0, and pediatric therapeutic cardiac catheters are weighted as 3.0). (R. p. 1168)

catheterization services from 500 to 350 procedures annually. (R. p. 534, line 19 – p. 535, line 14) Prior to the contested case hearing, Trident abandoned any challenge to DHEC's approval of the CON Application based on whether the cath labs at Trident, Roper Hospital, and MUSC satisfied the utilization threshold under Standard 3 of the 2015 Health Plan. (R. p. 261; R. p. 22) As a result, and as set forth in the Stipulation of Facts, there was no challenge to the Department's determination that Roper Berkeley's CON Application satisfied all other requirements of the Health Plan, including Standard 4, and satisfied all of the project review criteria applicable to the proposed project, including the community need criterion and adverse effects criterion in Regulation 61-15. (R. p. 264; R. pp. 1170-1171); S.C. Code Ann. Regs. 61-15 § 802.

Roper Berkeley's CON Application proposed to establish diagnostic cardiac catheterization services at the Roper Berkeley Hospital under construction in Goose Creek, Berkeley County. (R. p. 753) Prior to Roper Berkeley filing its CON Application, East Cooper Medical Center ("East Cooper") also filed a CON Application to establish a cath lab in Mount Pleasant. (R. p. 1012; R. p. 28) Roper Berkeley notified DHEC by letter that it was an affected person with respect to East Cooper's CON Application on April 20, 2016. (R. p. 1080); S.C. Code Ann. § 44-7-210. DHEC notified the public that the Roper Berkeley CON Application had been accepted for filing and deemed complete in the May 27, 2016 State Register in accordance with the CON Act. (R. pp. 965-976); S.C. Code Ann. §§ 44-7-200(D), -210(A). During staff review, Trident participated as an affected person with respect to Roper Berkeley's CON Application, but not to East Cooper's CON Application, even though both Applications sought to establish diagnostic catheterization services in the service area in which Trident provides similar services. (R. p. 28) Trident's expert testified that Trident was not concerned about the East Cooper CON Application. (R. p. 415, line 22 – p. 416, line 4; R. p. 420, lines 6-16)

Louis Eubank, the CON Program Director for DHEC at the time, served as the staff reviewer of East Cooper's CON Application. (R. p. 30) It was as a result of East Cooper's position in its CON Application that the cath lab at St. Francis should not be considered in DHEC's review under the 2015 Health Plan that Mr. Eubank approached Roper St. Francis regarding the underutilization of the St. Francis cath lab. (R. p. 31) Mr. Eubank requested that Roper St. Francis propose a solution in order to avoid potential enforcement proceedings against St. Francis. (R. p. 31) In response to DHEC's request for a proposal as an alternative to contested enforcement proceedings,⁴ Roper St. Francis proposed to close the cath lab at St. Francis if the Department approved a CON Application to add diagnostic catheterization services at Roper-Berkeley Hospital. (R. p. 31) The net result of the proposal was that the Roper St. Francis System would still have four (4) cardiac cath labs, but one cath lab would be better distributed in Berkeley County.

Both East Cooper and Roper Berkeley's CON Applications were reviewed under the 2015 Health Plan, which was enacted August 13, 2015. (R. p. 33) Trident opposed the Roper Berkeley CON Application during DHEC staff review, but elected not to oppose the East Cooper CON Application. (R. p. 28; R. p. 415, line 22 – p. 416, line 4; R. p. 420, lines 6-16) Trident's grounds for opposition are found in two letters to the Department, one of which was authored by Trident's health planning expert, Mr. Sullivan. (R. p. 939; R. pp. 942-953) In a decision letter dated July 25, 2016, Mr. Eubank approved Roper Berkeley's CON Application to add diagnostic catheterization services to Roper Berkeley Hospital, conditioned upon the closure of the St. Francis cath lab. (R.

⁴ As reflected in the record, Roper St. Francis did not agree with the Department's belief that the cardiac catheterization program at St. Francis Hospital was in violation of any provision that would warrant enforcement proceedings. (R. p. 1081)

p. 35; R. p. 958) On the same day, Mr. Eubank also approved East Cooper's CON Application to add diagnostic catheterization services in Mount Pleasant. (R. p. 35)

In a letter dated July 26, 2016, DHEC requested confirmation from Roper St. Francis that the St. Francis cath lab would be closed no later than August 26, 2016. (R. p. 35; R. p. 978) On August 17, 2016, St. Francis notified the Department that it had closed the cath lab to diagnostic cardiac cath services as of August 1, 2016, in accordance with the proposal in the CON Application and the condition of approval. (R. p. 35; R. p. 979) Trident subsequently challenged the Department's authority to approve Roper Berkeley's CON Application in compliance with the 2015 Health Plan, but notably chose not to challenge the Department's authority to approve East Cooper's CON Application, which was approved on the same day using the same Standards in the same Health Plan. That Trident has strenuously challenged and sought to foreclose Roper St. Francis's presence in Berkeley County is a matter of widespread public knowledge, not the least of which being the 6 year legal battle to begin construction on the first hospital in Berkeley County, whose doors finally opened on October 4, 2019, albeit without diagnostic cardiac catheterization services, such services also no longer available at St. Francis Hospital because of Roper St. Francis's compliance with the Department's directives.

STANDARD OF REVIEW

"The Administrative Procedures Act (APA) establishes the standard of review for appeals from the ALC." *Abel v. S.C. Dep't of Health and Env'tl. Control*, 419 S.C. 434, 437, 798 S.E.2d 445, 446 (Ct. App. 2017) (quotation omitted). The APA provides that this Court "may reverse or modify the decision if the substantive rights of the petitioner have been prejudiced because the finding, conclusion, or decision is:

- (a) in violation of constitutional or statutory provisions;
- (b) in excess of the statutory authority of the agency;

- (c) made upon unlawful procedure;
- (d) affected by other error of law;
- (e) clearly erroneous in view of the reliable, probative, and substantial evidence on the whole record; or
- (f) arbitrary or capricious or characterized by abuse of discretion or clearly unwarranted exercise of discretion.

S.C. Code Ann. § 1-23-610(B). “Substantial evidence is not merely a scintilla of evidence, nor is it evidence viewed blindly from one side.” *Marlboro Park Hosp. v. S.C. Dep’t of Health and Envtl. Control*, 358 S.C. 573, 580, 595 S.E.2d 851, 855 (Ct. App. 2004). The petitioner in the contested case proceeding “bore the burden of providing that [the] requested certificate of need should be denied.” *Id.* at 581, 595 S.E.2d at 855; *see also* S.C. Code Ann. § 44-7-210(E).

ARGUMENT

I. THE ADMINISTRATIVE LAW COURT ERRED IN REFUSING TO GIVE DEFERENCE TO DHEC’S INTERPRETATION OF ITS HEALTH PLAN.

The fundamental issue in dispute and now subject to this appeal is whether Roper Berkeley’s CON Application to add diagnostic cardiac cath services at the Roper Berkeley Hospital under construction in Goose Creek was in compliance with the 2015 Health Plan as determined by DHEC and, more specifically, whether DHEC’s determination that the St. Francis cath lab was not an existing lab for purposes of Standard 3 in the Health Plan was entitled to deference by the ALC. The ALC’s reversal of the Department and denial of the CON Application was based on the ALC’s disagreement with the Department’s belief that the evaluation of what are “existing labs” for purposes of planning additional diagnostic cardiac cath services can be a future point in time (*viz.* when the CON is issued to the applicant), as opposed to the ALC’s acceptance of Trident’s argument that it must be evaluated at the time the CON application is filed and reviewed. Roper Berkeley submits there is no evidence to support that DHEC’s interpretation was

arbitrary, capricious, or manifestly contrary to the Health Plan, and as such the ALC's reversal of the Department's decision was in error.

A. The South Carolina Health Plan and Rules for Interpretation.

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