THE STATE OF SOUTH CAROLINA
In the Court of Appeals

RECEIVED

FEB 03 2020

SC Court of Appeals

APPEAL FROM THE ADMINISTRATIVE LAW COURT
The Honorable H.W. Funderburk, Jr., Administrative Law Judge

APPELLATE CASE NO.: 2019-000358
ADMINISTRATIVE LAW COURT CASE NO.: 16-ALJ-07-0386-CC

Trident Medical Center, LLC, d/b/a Trident Medical CenterRespondent,
v.

South Carolina Department of Health and Environmental Control
and Roper St. Francis Hospital-Berkeley, Inc. d/b/a Roper
St. Francis Hospital – Berkeley Respondents below,

Of Which South Carolina Department of Health and Environmental
Control is a.....Respondent,

And Roper St. Francis Hospital – Berkeley, Inc. d/b/a

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

v. S.C. Dep't of Health & Envtl. Control, 412 S.C. 341, 350-355, 772 S.E.2d 177, 182-184 (Ct. App. 2015).

In accordance with the rules of construction, the ALC was guided first by the plain language of Standard 3. *See Wade v. Berkeley County*, 348 S.C. 224, 229, 559 S.E.2d 586, 588 (2002) (“The first question of statutory interpretation is whether the statute’s meaning is clear on its face...If a statute’s language is plain and unambiguous, and conveys a clear and definite meaning, there is no occasion for employing rules of statutory interpretation and the court has no right to look for or impose another meaning.”).

The ALC determined that, on its face, the plain and ordinary meaning of Standard 3 is that, in order for a new diagnostic cath lab to be approved, all cath labs in the service area that are open and offering diagnostic catheterization services at the time a CON application is being reviewed must have performed the required minimum 500 procedures during the year prior to the review period. (**Amended Final Order, R. p. 38**). Again, Standard 3 states “[n]ew diagnostic catheterization services, including mobile services, **will be approved only if all existing labs in the service area have performed** a minimum of 500 diagnostic catheterization procedures per laboratory **during the most recent year.**” (**R. p. 1171**) (emphasis added).

For assistance in confirming what “existing” means in its common usage, the ALC consulted the dictionary as many courts before it have. *See Lee v. Thermal Eng’g Corp.*, 352 S.C. 81, 91-92, 572 S.E.2d 298, 304 (Ct. App. 2002)(“Where a word is not defined in a statute, our appellate courts have looked to the usual dictionary meaning to supply its meaning.”). *See, also, e.g., Gibson v. Epting*, 426 S.C. 346, 353, 827 S.E.2d 178, 181 (Ct. App. 2019)(consulting Oxford English Dictionary for the meaning of “scintilla”); *Canal Ins. Co. v. Nat’l House Movers, LLC*, 414 S.C. 255, 262, 777 S.E.2d 418, 422 (Ct. App. 2015)(consulting Black’s Law

Dictionary, American Heritage Dictionary and Webster's Third New International Dictionary for the meaning of "furnish"); *Estate of Chappell v. Gillespie*, 327 S.C. 617, 624, 491 S.E.2d 267, 270 (Ct. App. 1997)(consulting Oxford English Dictionary, American Heritage Dictionary, and Black's Law Dictionary for the meaning of "create").

Of the many choices of dictionaries available, the ALC chose to consult the Oxford English Dictionary, which defines "existing" as "in existence or operation at a current time." This definition is entirely consistent with the plain and commonly understood meaning of the word "existing". Further, this interpretation comports with the context of the use of the word in Standard 3.

As stipulated by the parties, "Standard 3 sets forth the **historical** utilization threshold for approval of a new diagnostic catheterization laboratory in a service area." (**Stipulation of Facts, ¶6(c), R. p. 262**)(emphasis added). As explained by Mr. Sullivan:

The issue on Standard 3 is whether or not the capacity that exists **now** allows for existing labs to be well utilized. And whether or not you're not going to increase the number of labs, that still doesn't answer the question of **do we need all of the labs we have right now**. And Standard 3 really addresses that question. It's do we have enough capacity, too much capacity and simply saying, well we're not going to add any more labs doesn't really get to the community need aspect of Standard 3.

(**Sullivan Trial Tr.: R. p. 371, line 23 – p. 372, line 9**).¹⁰

Mr. Eubank testified that, in approving Roper's application, DHEC interpreted "existing" to mean those labs that exist at the time DHEC issues the CON for the new cath lab, an event which occurs only after the CON application is approved. (**Eubank Trial Tr.: R. p. 553, lines 8-**

¹⁰ The parties also stipulated that "Standard 4 sets forth the minimum **projected** utilization for approval of a new diagnostic catheterization laboratory in a service area." (**Stipulation of Facts, ¶6(d), R. p. 262**). It is this Standard 4 and not Standard 3 which considers need in the market in a prospective manner. (**Eubank Trial Tr.: R. p. 621, line 18 – p. 622, line 21**).

15). This interpretation is plainly contrary to the language in Standard 3 that new diagnostic catheterization services will be approved “*only*” if all existing labs have historically performed a minimum number of procedures. Standard 3 requires that the determination of historical utilization of the “existing” cath labs in the service area be made before an application can be approved, not after such approval has taken place and a CON has been issued.

Roper also offers an interpretation of Standard 3 that is wholly inconsistent with its purpose and its plain language. Ms. Platt testified with regard to Roper’s CON application that:

A: [W]e state, while Bon Secours St. Francis Xavier Hospital is operating below 500 diagnostic equivalents per year, the lab **will be closed** upon the approval of the project. As a result **all labs which will exist following the approval of this project** are currently operating well above 500 diagnostic equivalents per lab and meet the utilization requirements of the standard....

Q: And so you were including Bon Secours St. Francis as an existing cath lab in your discussion of Standard 3?

A: No. I mean ...we presented it as a reporting lab but we said **it will not exist upon approval of the project. It will not continue to exist** to meet the needs of the population.

(Platt Trial Tr.: R. p. 673, line 9 – p. 674, line 1). Again, determining which labs will exist after approval is contrary to Standard 3’s imposition of an historical threshold-that must be met prior to approval.

Interpreting Standard 3 to require that all labs which are open and operating at the time of CON review must be performing a certain minimum threshold of procedures before any new labs are approved fulfills the purpose of Standard 3. As the ALC concluded, “the Department’s forced construction by converting the term ‘existing’ and ‘have performed’ to ‘will exist’ and ‘will perform’ under the principle of agency deference completely negates the meaning and intent of

Standard 3 and circumvents the importance of historical utilization as a necessary tool for health planning.”¹¹ (**Amended Final Order, R. p. 40**).

By using the St. Francis cath lab as a place holder for years, even when no procedures were being performed in the lab, Roper created a situation wherein the parties were obliged to engage in a theoretical debate over the meaning of the word “exist”. It is undisputed that the St. Francis cath lab physically existed at the time that Roper submitted its CON application. It was operational and had performed procedures on patients during the prior year. It was listed in the inventory in the State Health Plan. Further, Roper acknowledged its existence and consistently asserted that the lab was operational. Finally, Roper refused to close, *i.e.* stop operating, the lab unless, and until, it was approved for a CON to establish a new cath lab at its Berkeley County hospital. All of the above observations are facts which are supported by the substantial evidence in the record. Based on these facts, the St. Francis cath lab plainly “existed” for purposes of Standard 3 of the State Health Plan.

Once the ALC correctly concluded that the plain language of Standard 3 addresses St. Francis’ status in this case, the Court appropriately concluded that it could not defer to an agency’s interpretation of the law that was in contradiction to the plain and ordinary meaning of the words contained therein. It is settled law that an agency is not entitled to the usual deference accorded in the construction of its laws and regulations when such construction contravenes the plain and unambiguous language of those laws and regulations. *See, Savannah Riverkeeper v. S.C. Dep’t of Health & Envtl. Control*, 400 S.C. 196, 207, 733 S.E.2d 903, 908 (2012)(“An

¹¹ Roper argues that Standard 3 contains no temporal requirements and that this is a “gap” that DHEC must fill by interpreting the word “existing”. (**Brief of Appellant, p. 17**). As noted above, Standard 3 actually plainly contains two temporal requirements – that utilization from the most recent prior year be determined and that such determination must occur prior to approval of a new cath lab.

agency's interpretation of a statute or regulation that is erroneous or controlled by error of law presents a compelling reason not to defer to the agency's interpretation."); *Media Gen. Commc'ns, Inc. v. S.C. Dept. of Revenue*, 388 S.C. 138, 149–50, 694 S.E.2d 525, 530–31 (2010) (“An agency’s long-standing interpretation of a statute is usually entitled to be given deference and should not be overruled by a reviewing court in the absence of cogent reasons, but the interpretation will not be sustained if it contradicts a statute’s plain language.”).

In addition to determining that DHEC’s interpretation of Standard 3 violated the plain language of the Plan, the ALC also determined that DHEC’s interpretation was arbitrary and, therefore, no deference would be required even if Standard 3 were determined to be “silent” on the issue. Roper contends that the ALC’s conclusion that DHEC’s interpretation is arbitrary was based on facts that are not relevant, clearly erroneous, and are not supported by substantial evidence. Roper raises three issues in furtherance of this argument.

First, Roper claims that the 2010 communications between DHEC and East Cooper are not prior interpretations of Standard 3 and are not relevant to DHEC’s current interpretation of Standard 3. This contention lacks merit.

Under its deference analysis, in addition to addressing the plain language issue, the ALC was also required to consider whether there was any compelling or cogent reason to reject DHEC’s interpretation of Standard 3. Among the compelling reasons recognized by the courts is whether the interpretation is not long-standing or is not consistent with the agency’s prior actions and pronouncements on the regulation or policy in question. *See Media Gen. Commc'ns, Inc.*, 388 S.C. at 149, 694 S.E.2d at 531–32 (“An agency’s longstanding interpretation of a statute is usually entitled to deference” in the absence of cogent reasons to overturn it.); *Bunch v. Cobb*, 273 S.C. 445, 452, 257 S.E.2d 225, 228 (1979) (“A consistent mode of applying a statute by the

responsible governing agency has been given considerable deference in the construction of ambiguous statutes.”). From a legal standpoint, the 2010 correspondence is relevant to the ALC’s examination of the evolution of DHEC’s interpretation of Standard 3.

This correspondence is also relevant from a factual standpoint. The 2010 correspondence between East Cooper and DHEC concerning the St. Francis cath lab is directly related to this matter. As discussed in the Statement of Facts, East Cooper’s desire for a new diagnostic cath lab in 2010 started the chain of events that eventually led to the 2019 decision of the ALC in this case. Indeed, the early efforts of East Cooper represented by the 2010 correspondence to get DHEC to determine whether the St. Francis cath lab could be discounted for purposes of historical need and its subsequent filing of a CON application raising the same issues are what led Mr. Eubank to contact Roper to resolve the issue and enter into the agreement that forms the basis of the decision letters issued by DHEC to both Roper and East Cooper approving their respective cath labs. Finally, it should be noted that Roper itself cited the 2010 correspondence in its affected person letter submitted in the East Cooper matter and used it to remind DHEC that it had already rejected East Cooper’s interpretation of Standard 3 in which it asserted that the St. Francis cath lab should be considered non-operational and discounted for purposes of determining community need. **(R. p. 1081).**

Roper also argues that the May 27, 2010 letter from Ms. Brandt, which concludes that DHEC does not have a “mechanism” to remove St. Francis from need calculations for a new cath lab simply based on its low volume, is not relevant because it is not an official DHEC interpretation of Standard 3. Specifically, Roper points to the lack of discussion of the use DHEC’s enforcement powers in the letter.¹²

¹² Roper’s focus on enforcement is yet another indication that DHEC’s current interpretation of Standard 3 is neither long-standing or consistent. The reason DHEC needed to interpret

Roper's arguments assume a formality that is not required when considering prior interpretations of the law by an agency. In 2010, East Cooper asked DHEC to agree to discount St. Francis's cath lab when considering the historical need thresholds established by the State Health Plan. DHEC reviewed the applicable law and replied that it could not close St. Francis' cath lab or remove it from the State Health Plan inventory as a provider without addressing the issue in the Plan itself. DHEC's interpretation of Standard 3 in this case also does not arise in an enforcement action. It arises in the course of DHEC's application of the State Health Plan as part of a review of a CON application. In both cases, DHEC addressed whether or how to discount St. Francis in the course of the CON approval process so that other providers could be approved for new diagnostic cath labs. The ALC did not err in considering the 2010 correspondence and comparing it to DHEC's positions now.

In any case, even assuming that the 2010 correspondence cannot be considered to be an interpretation that is inconsistent with DHEC's current interpretation, the ALC correctly found that DHEC's interpretation of "existing" in Standard 3 as articulated at the hearing by Mr. Eubank changed from the one stated in the Roper and East Cooper decision letters in July 2016. **(Amended Final Order, R. pp. 40-41)**. See *Sierra Club v. S.C. Dep't of Health & Env'tl. Control*, 412 S.C. 341, 350-355, 772 S.E.2d 177, 182-184 (Ct. App. 2015) ("Certainly, we are not required to give deference to an agency's interpretation of a regulation when that very interpretation has changed within the same litigation."). See also *MRI at Belfair, LLC v. S.C. Dep't of Health & Env'tl. Control*, 392 S.C. 314, 322, 709 S.E.2d 626, 630 (2011) (refusing to defer to a change in DHEC's prior allocation of costs policy developed by a new employee when

"existing" in the first place was to accommodate a one-time "settlement agreement" of a threatened enforcement action. Standard 3 was plain and unambiguous as written. It just did not suit the needs of DHEC and Roper in this case. **(Amended Final Order, R. p. 40)**.

such change was inconsistent with legislative intent); *Gilstrap v. S.C. Budget & Control Bd.*, 310 S.C. 210, 215, 423 S.E.2d 101, 104 (1992)(“[T]he Board previously construed the Act as limiting its authority to making proportionate across the board cuts. The Board’s current interpretation...appears to be based solely on the effect it would have on the various state agencies and, at best, has been in existence only since February of 1991. Deferring to this interpretation would be inappropriate.”).

As its second issue contesting the conclusion of the ALC that DHEC’s interpretation of Standard 3 is arbitrary, Roper takes issue with the ALC’s description of the 2016 email correspondence between Mr. Eubank and Roper which resulted in the agreement by Roper to close the St. Francis cath lab upon approval of a new Roper cath lab in Goose Creek. Roper specifically alleges that the ALC’s reference to this agreement as a “plan” is an indication of bias on the court’s part. This argument is meritless. At various times, DHEC and Roper have referred to the effort to address St. Francis’s cath lab as a “mechanism” (**R. p. 1309**) or a “process” (**R. p. 1331**). Neither of these terms is any more pejorative than the ALC’s use of the word “plan” to describe a negotiated resolution to a problem. This argument lacks merit and further was not raised by Roper at any time below.

Roper cites as further evidence of “bias” the court’s rejecting the Merriam Webster definition of “existing,” which Roper’s attorney referenced in her opening statement and Roper’s expert agreed with in her testimony, and instead, choosing the Oxford English dictionary definition. This claim is meritless. As this Court has recognized, the use of a dictionary or multiple dictionaries can aid a court’s understanding of a term but it is by no means the determining factor in construing the plain meaning of a statute or regulations. *See Ex Parte Traveler’s Home & Marine Ins. Co. v. Stringfellow*, 427 S.C. 238, 803 S.E.2d 718 (Ct. App.

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